
Date Published:10 January 2022     

Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee

Wednesday 19 January 2022 at 10.00 am

Please note that this meeting will be held remotely and can be
viewed on the County Council website at www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies. 

Chair

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the committee are invited to declare any pecuniary or 
personal interests relating to specific matters on the agenda.

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

Chair

3  GLOUCESTERSHIRE INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT FUND 
PROGRAMME (GIIF) (Pages 1 - 14)

To receive a presentation on the GIIF, a written report and presentation is 
attached.

Neil Hopwood

4  STRATEGIC PLANNING IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE (Pages 15 - 26)

To receive the annual update on strategic and local plans in
Gloucestershire.

Mike Dawson

5  WORK PLAN (Pages 27 - 28)

To review the committee work plan and suggest items for consideration at 
future meetings.

Chair

INFORMATION ITEMS

6  FUTURE MEETINGS 

To note the dates of future meetings:

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/


    

31 March 2022
31 May 2022
21 July 2022
22 September 2022
29 November 2022

7  EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S REPORT (Pages 29 - 38)

To note an update report from Colin Chick, Executive Director of  
Economy, Environment & Infrastructure on Economic Growth issues in the 
County.

Colin Chick

Membership –  Cllr Rebecca Halifax, Cllr Dominic Morris, Cllr Robert Vines, Cllr Roger Whyborn, 
Cllr Matt Babbage (Chair), Cllr Sajid Patel, Cllr Alastair Chambers, Cllr Chloe Turner and 
Cllr Paul Baker Cllr Nicky Packer, Cllr Paul McCloskey, Cllr John Murphy and Cllr Gina Blomefield

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer, 
(Rob Ayliffe Tel:01452 328506/ e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the 
start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Sophie Benfield, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324094/ e-mail: sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c)

(d) 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Members are required to sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see page 81 of 

the Constitution).

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk


 

GFirst LEP CIC, Oxstalls Campus, Longlevens, Gloucester, GL2 9HW 

 

 

Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee  
 
Meeting date :- Wed 17th Nov 2021 
 
Paper - Gloucestershire Infrastructure Investment Fund  

Provided by :- N.Hopwood, GFirst LEP 

Overview 

The Gloucestershire Infrastructure Investment Fund (GIIF) is Gloucestershire’s way of utilising the awarded 
capital grant of £8.4m, secured through a competitive bidding process in 2012 to the “Growing Places Fund” 
promoted by DCLG (as it was at the time). 

It is managed as a revolving loan fund, with loans generally made on an interest free basis (although subject 
to an administration fee) on a relatively short-term timescale (ie 2-3 years maximum). Generally the fund 
allows construction to proceed until an asset has been created at which point the project promoter can 
usually re-finance the project through more conventional sources and hence repay the GIIF loan. 

 It continues to be highly successful, with funding having been recycled several times (8 projects)  Currently 
the £8million of funds (£400k is maintained as a reserve) are fully committed, with a current loan profile 
that sees £4.5m of repayments due in Q3 22/23. The team regularly review the fund utilisation and a 
pipeline of potential projects. 

 
This fund is designed to stimulate local economic growth by targeting investment to deliver the 
infrastructure needed to unlock constrained and stalled development sites, and help to realise potential 
development value, new jobs, housing and regeneration. Typically it is used where access to other sources 
of finance are difficult to secure or require excessive collateral, but where there is a strong business case for 
the project. 

 
Fig.1 GIIF Funded Projects to date 

Project title Category GIIF Investment Private Sector 
Investment 

Jobs 
created/protected 

Honeybourne Gate Extra 
Care Home 

Housing £2.75m £13.4m 21 

Park View (Southgate St) 
Extra Care Home 

Housing £1.3m £5.8m 21 

Gloucester M5 Services 
(Southbound) 

Infrastructure £3.0m £20.34m 400+ 

Dudbridge Estates (Stroud 
Metal new factory) 

Business 
Support 

£3.5m £6.025m 101 

Shield House Secure Data 
Centre 

Infrastructure £3.0m £12.66m 12 

Merrywalks Shopping Centre  
re-development (Stroud) 

Business 
Support 

£1.0m £29m* 190 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

GFirst LEP CIC, Oxstalls Campus, Longlevens, Gloucester, GL2 9HW 

 

Bakers Quay (Phase 2)  
re-generation 

Housing £2.5m £39m 70 (tbc) 
 

270 Climbing Centre Sport/Leisure £1.85m £8m 30 (tbc) 
Totals £18.9m £122m 845+ 

 

The GIIF fund has been extremely successful in un-locking major private sector investment with a ratio in 
excess of 6 to 1 to date. 

It continues to operate and is promoted through the LEP and local economic development teams when 
funds become available. 

Governance and Administration. 

The fund is governed jointly by GFirst LEP and Gloucestershire County Council. An independent investment 
panel is maintained to provide objective evaluation of the projects coming forward and all projects are 
subject to an independent due diligence assessment. 

The Gloucestershire LEP Investment Panel usually meets quarterly and acts in an advisory capacity to make 
investment recommendations to the LEP Board. The Panel also reviews and monitors the programme and 
investment portfolio for the Infrastructure Investment Fund. The LEP Board has responsibility for making 
the final decisions on investment funding for this scheme. 

Full membership of the Investment Panel can be seen here:- Investment Panel  

Gloucestershire County Council perform the Accountable Body function for the fund, hold the cash balance 
and provide the administration support.  

Awards are subject to a legally binding funding agreement. 

Project Highlights 

Gloucester Services  

Gloucestershire Infrastructure Investment Fund (GIIF) was the catalyst for the completion of Gloucester 
Services.  GIIF awarded £3 million loan to Gloucestershire Gateway Ltd. for this project.  The GIIF loan 
supported the development of the M5 southbound motorway services at Gloucester, completing both arms 
of the motorway services in 2015. 

A £40 million project which currently employs 400 people mainly from the local area, it will redistribute an 
estimated £10 million over 20 years back to local charitable community projects through the Gloucester 
Gateway Trust.  Gloucester Services is providing local stakeholders with significant benefit that will extend 
to 2026 and beyond. 

The services are regularly voted Britain’s best services and have to some extent become a destination in 
their own right and are an excellent showcase for all that is good about Gloucestershire. They have also 
supported significant growth in numerous local food and produce businesses as a consequence of their 
sourcing policies. 

 

Page 2

https://www.gfirstlep.com/about-us/funding-opportunities/


 

GFirst LEP CIC, Oxstalls Campus, Longlevens, Gloucester, GL2 9HW 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Stroud Metal Company  
 
The Stroud Metal Company was awarded £3.5 million to facilitate the relocation of both factory and office 
space and the integration of Cotswold Plastics in a new purpose built factory unit at Brunel Way in nearby 
Stonehouse. 

The loan enabled the organisation to bridge the gap in between the construction of the new premises and 
the relocation of the business. The two phase project, which will sustain 100+ local jobs and once fully 
operational at the new site, the company intend to offer three apprenticeships per annum. 

The relocation of the factory to a new modern fit for purpose unit to enable the company to grow,has also 
provided a key brownfield regeneration development site in a highly sustainable location in Stroud for 
housing and local retail. 
 

Page 3



 

GFirst LEP CIC, Oxstalls Campus, Longlevens, Gloucester, GL2 9HW 

 

 
 
Park View Care Home  
 
Park View offers a range of care services for older people.  Park View is a high quality 97 bed care home 
situated in Gloucester with specialist dementia and nursing facilities, residential care, Close Care Plus 
apartments and respite care.  The development was opened in September 2016, transforming a brownfield 
site at a key ‘gateway’ into Gloucester adjacent to the Gloucester Quays development and Gloucester Park.  

 
 
 
Shield House Data Centre 
 
This project was the refurbishment and extension of disused warehouse premises in Barnwood, Gloucester 
to create a start of the art co-location data centre, particularly for users that require high security and 
resilience. 

A unique feature of the centre is the multi-carrier network access and multiple redundancy/back up options 
to ensure availability at all times. 

This investment has created a significant piece of digital infrastructure for Gloucestershire that can support 
the planned growth in the digital and Cyber sectors in the coming years.  
 

Page 4



 

GFirst LEP CIC, Oxstalls Campus, Longlevens, Gloucester, GL2 9HW 

 

 
 
 
More Recent Activity 
 
In 2019, the LEP Investment Panel and LEP Board approved the award of £2.5million to Bakers Quay in 
Gloucester, to enable the second phase re-development for residential and retail/commercial uses, and 
completion of this important regeneration scheme in Gloucester Docks. The Coronavirus pandemic stalled 
activity for some time (and has subsequently shifted the funding profile) but work has now commenced 
with the site preparation and scaffolding of one of the historic buildings and full construction is expected to 
start in early 2022 subject to planning conditions being met.  

In June 2021, funding of £1.85million was approved by the Investment Panel and LEP Board to support the 
development of the 270 Climbing Centre, an international standard indoor and outdoor climbing centre at 
Bentham which will be a fantastic addition to the sports and leisure facilities available in Gloucestershire. 

 

 
Summary  
 

Page 5



 

GFirst LEP CIC, Oxstalls Campus, Longlevens, Gloucester, GL2 9HW 

 

The innovative use of the £8.4m Growing Places Fund award has been exceptionally successful at 
bringing forward significant developments in Gloucestershire that would in most cases not 
otherwise have happened or would have been stalled for several years. It is also highly regarded as 
an exemplar by Government, for the use of the Growing Place Fund initiative.  
 
It has facilitated the delivery of a number of strategic economic assets for the county which will 
subsequently act as catalysts for attracting further investment and support jobs and economic growth. 

Activity for 2021-22 will be to continue to manage the fund, managing repayments and loan awards in 
accordance with our governance arrangements and developing the pipeline of potential projects for future 
funding. 

N.Hopwood 
Projects and Infrastructure Manager, 5/11/21 

Page 6



Gloucestershire Infrastructure Investment Fund

‘GIIF’

P
age 7



GIIF Overview
Project title Category GIIF 

Investment

Private Sector 

Investment

Jobs 

created/protected

Honeybourne Gate Extra Care 

Home

Housing £2.75m £13.4m 21

Park View (Southgate St) Extra 

Care Home

Housing £1.3m £5.8m 21

Gloucester M5 Services 

(Southbound)

Infrastructure £3.0m £20.34m 400+

Dudbridge Estates (Stroud Metal 

new factory)

Business Support £3.5m £6.025m 101

Shield House Secure Data Centre Infrastructure £3.0m £12.66m 12

Merrywalks Shopping Centre 

re-development (Stroud)

Business Support £1.0m £29m 190

Bakers Quay (Phase 2) 

re-generation

Housing £2.5m £39m 70 (tbc)

270 Climbing Centre Sport/Leisure £1.85m £8m 30 (tbc)

Totals £18.9m £122m 845+

P
age 8



GIIF Overview

Honey Bourne Gate Cheltenham
• Brownfield site – first GIIF project
• Extra Care Assisted Living Centre 
• 5* Communal Facilities.
• Opened in April 2015
• 54 extra care apartments 
• EAC Silver Award 2019 - South West 

region category for best Housing-with-
Care

P
age 9



GIIF Overview

Shield House Data Centre
• Carrier neutral 
• A single point of connection for all the 

major cloud services platforms
• High Security Integrated Data Centre 

Services - IT as a service
• Designed for low energy use - High 

Density Racks – up to 30Kw 

P
age 10



GIIF Overview

Gloucester Services (Southbound)
• Opened May 2015
• GIIF provided ‘bridging loan’ to accelerate 

delivery
• Significant local employer, c150 jobs
• 130+ producers within 30 miles & 70 

South West producers
• C£10m over 20 years to Gloucester 

Gateway Trust
• Now an iconic Gloucestershire feature

P
age 11



GIIF Overview

Governance
• Accountable Body Team at GCC
• Joint LEP/GCC Programme Management Group 
• External Independent Due Diligence
• LEP Investment Panel 
• LEP Board

P
age 12



GIIF Overview

Thank you for 
your attention!

P
age 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



UPDATE ON STRATEGIC PLANNING IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

Meeting GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (GEGSC)
Report Author Mike Dawson
Background 
documents

National Planning Policy Framework 2021

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
background 
documents

N/A

Main Consultees N/A
Planned Dates N/A
Purpose of report Status of Strategic Planning in Gloucestershire

This report provides an update on the status of strategic plans that have 
been progressed by the Gloucestershire authorities and the levels of growth 
that have been identified and is being planned within them.

Recommendations To NOTE the update on the progress on strategic plan making by the 
Gloucestershire authorities, the amount of growth being planned for, and 
key delivery projects.

Reason for 
recommendations

To ensure that the committee is aware of the status of strategic planning 
across the county.

Resource 
implications

N/A

1. Introduction

1.1. Strategic Plans provide the strategic planning policies for the plan area. They set out the 
housing and employment growth requirements for their respective areas as well as 
identifying major development projects that will help to deliver them.   The local planning 
authorities in Gloucestershire have all adopted strategic plans and these include Cotswold, 
Stroud and Forest of Dean as well as Cheltenham, Gloucester City and Tewkesbury Borough 
who together have the Joint Core Strategy (JCS). Reviews of these documents are currently 
underway alongside the progression and adoption of second tier plans and supplementary 
planning documents. This paper provides an update on these plans and some of the key 
projects, as well as an update on national guidance. 

2. Stroud District Local Plan

2.1. The Stroud District Local Plan was adopted in November 2015 and covers the period from 
2006 to 2031. The plan identifies the following growth requirements: 

 Housing: 11,400 
 Employment land: 58ha
 Jobs: up to 12,500

2.2. To deliver the growth required in the adopted plan, the local plan identifies several 
strategic sites that will meet some of this housing requirement totalling 3,300 homes and a 
significant proportion of its employment land requirement totalling 52ha.

2.3. The Council has been progressing a review of the Local Plan since 2017. The reviewed plan 
will cover the period from 2020-2040. Public consultation on the Pre-Submission Plan took 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



place in May 2021, and the Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State in October 2021.  
The growth strategy envisages delivering 12,600 new homes at a series of strategic 
locations including two new settlements. There are 79 hectares of new employment land 
proposed at a series of strategic locations. Examination and adoption of the new plan is 
anticipated in 2022.

3. Joint Core Strategy

3.1. The Gloucester, Cheltenham, and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (JCS) was adopted in 
December 2017 and covers the period between 2011 and 2031. The plan identifies the 
following growth requirements: 

 Homes: 35,175 
 Employment land: 192ha 
 Jobs: 39,500

3.2. There are a number of strategic sites for the JCS, and these are set out in the table below 
along with a summary update of progress on these sites:

Site Homes Employment 
Land (ha)

Update

Innsworth & 
Twigworth

2,295 9.1 108 dwellings completed during the 
2020/21 monitoring year and 108 built out 
in total. 466 further dwellings which have 
planning permission which have not yet 
been constructed. 

South 
Churchdown

1,100 17.4 18 dwellings completed during the 2020/21 
monitoring year and 18 built out in total. 
437 further dwellings have planning 
permission which have not yet been 
constructed.

North 
Brockworth
(Perrybrook)

1,500 3 158 dwellings completed during the 
2020/21 monitoring year and 179 built out 
in total. 350 further dwellings have planning 
permission which have not yet been 
constructed.  Some pre-applications have 
come in for the final phases.

Northwest 
Cheltenham

4,285 23.4 Persimmon scheme for 260 units submitted 
to Cheltenham Borough Council. Revised 
Plans submitted April and further revised 
plans awaited.

Larger scheme at final stages of preparation. 
Delay linked to transport modelling. 
Working through s106 negotiations with 
planning authorities.

Page 16



West 
Cheltenham

1,100 45 Golden Valley SPD adopted July 2020. 
Preferred development partner announced 
July 2021.

Ashchurch 14.3 Construction has commenced on site for the 
garden centre and retail outlet. 

Winneycroft 620 Consents across the whole site with the site 
now providing 637 homes. Start on site 
expected before end of financial year. 

3.3. In addition to these allocations, Wychavon have agreed to provide a site in Mitton for 500 
dwellings. Ongoing negotiations have been progressing and it is expected that the planning 
application will go to committee before the end of the year. 

3.4. Delivery in the JCS area has been strong and as of 31st March 2021 total completions over 
the JCS plan period to date have totalled 14,342 dwellings: Cheltenham have delivered 
3558 delivered of their 4050 target; Gloucester City have delivered 5205 of 7180; and 
Tewkesbury have delivered 5579 out of a 4455 target (2019/2020). The adoption of the 
emerging Tewkesbury Borough Plan and Gloucester City Plan will add further to the housing 
supply of the area.

3.5. In terms of employment, the JCS allocates 112.2 ha of employment land on strategic sites. 
The Tewkesbury Borough Plan proposes to allocate a further 26.9 ha across new sites and 
carry over 43.1 ha of undeveloped capacity on sites allocated within the Local Plan to 2011. 
This equates to a total of 70ha of employment land allocated within Tewkesbury Borough 
Local Plan. In addition, a further 6 ha is allocated within the adopted Cheltenham Plan; 15.3 
ha is proposed in the submitted Gloucester Local Plan alongside an additional 16.1 ha from 
extant consents on allocations in the previous Gloucester plan, this adds an additional 37.4 
ha. 

3.6. Considering the 70 ha proposed within Tewkesbury and 37.4 in Cheltenham and Gloucester, 
107.4 ha of employment land will be provided outside of strategic allocations. Therefore, 
together with the 112.2 ha allocated on strategic sites, the JCS authorities have a total of 
219.6ha being provided over the plan period therefore meeting and exceeding the JCS 
requirement of 192ha of employment land.

3.7. Upon adoption of the JCS, the JCS was committed to an immediate review on housing 
supply for Tewkesbury Borough and Gloucester as well as a retail/town centre review for 
the whole area. With regards to new homes, the JCS identifies a housing shortfall of around 
2,400 homes for Tewkesbury Borough and around 1,000 homes for Gloucester at the time 
of adoption. In regard to retail, an immediate review is required to update an assessment of 
retails needs and to explore the allocation of strategic retail sites in accordance with a 
retail/town centre strategy. However, due to new requirements set out in the revised 
National Planning Policy Framework and to address wider delivery issues with the existing 
JCS, it is considered that this review will need be extended to be a comprehensive review of 
the plan.

3.8. To start this process the JCS Review Issues & Options consultation took place from 
November 2018 to January 2019. This consultation asked questions around all aspects of 

Page 17



the review, including the extent of its scope and plan period to be addressed. The 
authorities are now in the process of gathering the evidence required to inform the 
development of a draft JCS that will be subject to public consultation.  The timetable for this 
process is currently under review. 

3.9. Outside of the strategic allocations, each of the JCS authorities also has an identified district 
capacity which is to be met by smaller-scale allocations made through district-level plans 
that sit underneath the JCS. These plans are now at an advanced stage, with the 
Cheltenham Plan already adopted in August 2020, while the Tewkesbury Borough Plan was 
submitted for examination in May 2020 with hearings taking place in February/March this 
year, and adoption expected early 2022.  Gloucester City also submitted their Plan in 
Winter 2020, their hearings took place in May/June 2021 and adoption is also expected 
early 2022.

3.10. In terms of a five-year housing land supply and the housing delivery test: Tewkesbury has 
7.15 years supply as at April 2020 including sites allocated in Tewkesbury Borough Plan, 
and a 163% housing delivery test score; Cheltenham have a 3.9 years supply but a 191% 
housing delivery test score; and Gloucester have 5.0 years supply as confirmed by the City 
Plan Inspector and a housing delivery score of 146%.

4. Forest of Dean

4.1. The Forest of Dean Core Strategy was adopted in 2012 and covers the period from 2006 to 
2026. An Allocations plan which incorporates a full review of housing requirements and 
makes allocations accordingly was adopted in 2018. An Area Action Plan for Cinderford 
Northern Quarter was adopted in 2012.The following growth requirements are identified:
 

 Housing: 6,600
 Employment land: 68ha

The plan period runs from 2006 to 2026 and about 4246 dwellings (net) of the 20-year 
requirement of 6600 had been completed up to March 31 2021. The Council has a 3.9 years 
housing land supply, and a 94% delivery rate.

4.2. The Council have commenced work on a revised Local Plan seeking to cover the period 
2021-2041 and the current housing requirement by the standard method is 371pa or a total 
of 7420 over the period. The Plan has been through an Issues and Options consultation and 
a Preferred Options consultation.  The Preferred Options are now being reviewed by 
Members and a Draft Plan is expected late Summer/Autumn 2022.

5. Cotswolds’ District Plan

5.1. The Cotswold District Local Plan 2011-2031 was adopted in August 2018. The plan includes 
both a core strategy and site allocations. The Local Plan growth requirements are: 

 Housing: 8,400 (an average of 420 homes a year) 
 Employment land: 24ha of which 12.69ha has been delivered (March 2020)

5.2. The Local Plan allocates land within 17 Principal Settlements. Most allocations are on 
smaller scale sites. However, there is one strategic scale allocation at land south of 
Chesterton in Cirencester which was granted planning permission in April 2019 and makes a 

Page 18



significant contribution towards the District’s needs, allocating 9.1 ha of employment land 
and providing for 2,350 homes.

5.3. Cotswold District has a supply of 7.2 years of deliverable housing sites for the five-year 
period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2026. The District also passes the Housing Delivery Test 
with a score of 163%.

5.4. The District has had 5582 (March 2021) dwellings completed between April 2011 and 
March 2021. 

5.5. The Local Plan review is underway with a Regulation 18 consultation expected in January 
2022.

6. Gloucestershire County Council

6.1. The table below provides an update on the County Council’s Strategic Documents and their 
review

Area Name of Plan Date Adopted / 
approved

Review 
Underway

Expected 
completion date

Minerals Local 
Plan for 
Gloucestershire

Development Plan 
Document

Mar 2020 Statutory review 
required 

Mar 2025

Gloucestershire 
Waste Core 
Strategy

Development Plan 
Document

Nov 2012

Gloucestershire 
Waste Local Plan

Development Plan 
Document – only 
specific ‘saved’ 
policies remain 
part of the 
statutory 
development plan 

Oct 2004

Review 
completed late 
2020. 

New Waste Local 
Plan for 
Gloucestershire: 

Adoption by late 
2024.

Gloucestershire 
Waste 
Minimisation in 
Development 
Projects 
Supplementary 
Planning 
Document (SPD)

Local 
Development 
Document

Sept 2006 Review 
completed late 
2020. 

Adoption by late 
2024.

Development 
Contributions

Gloucestershire’s 
Local 

March 21 No -

Page 19



Development 
Guide 2021

Transport Gloucestershire 
Local Transport 
Plan (2020-2041)

March 21 No -

Transport Central Severn 
vale Local Cycling 
and Walking 
Investment Plan 
(LCWIP)

2018 No – but 
separate plan for 
Tewkesbury is 
being produced

-

Transport Bus Service 
Improvement Plan

October 21 No -

Flood Risk 
Management

Local Flood Risk 
Management 
Strategy

Summer 2014 Yes 2022/23 – 
2023/24

Flood Risk 
Management

Strategic Flood 
Risk Assessment 
(Level 1)

September 2008 Yes 2022/23 – 
2023/24 

Education Gloucestershire 
School Places 
Strategy (2021-
2026)

March 21 No -

Education SEND 
Commissioning 
Strategy

January 2020 No -

Library Services Strategy for 
Library Services

2012 Yes 2022

Health Joint Health and 
Wellbeing 
Strategy (2019-
2030)

September 2019 No

7. Key Delivery Projects

7.1. An update on the key strategic planning projects in Gloucestershire is set out below.

7.2. M5 Junction 10 

The M5 junction 10 Improvements Scheme is a proposal to provide a strategic transport 
intervention to unlock housing identified within safeguarded and strategic housing 
allocations to the West and Northwest of Cheltenham. The scheme comprises of the 
upgrade of the existing M5 junction 10 near Cheltenham to an all movements junction 

Page 20



and also includes capacity enhancements to the A4019 east of Junction 10, a new West 
Cheltenham Link Road connecting the A4019 to the strategic housing allocation at West 
Cheltenham and remote, but associated, upgrades to Arle Court Park and Ride to create a 
new Arle Court Transport Hub and improvement works to the Coombe Hill junction on 
the A38 west of M5 junction 10.

The scheme has secured funding and subsequently made a Preferred Route 
Announcement in June this year, work is now progressing on the preliminary design and 
associated assessments and evidence base to enable a statutory public consultation from 
December 2021 to February 2022. Thereafter the scheme will require planning 
permissions for the works at Arle Court and Coombe Hill together with a Development 
Consent Order for the junction 10 works (also including the West Cheltenham Link Road 
and A4019 capacity enhancements). It is currently anticipated that the necessary 
permissions will be in place to enable construction to commence in 2024 with planned 
completion during 2025. 

More information can be found here: 

M5 Junction 10 Improvements Scheme - Highways (gloucestershire.gov.uk)

7.3. M5 Junction 9/A46

The M5 junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch) Transport Scheme is a proposal to upgrade the 
M5 junction 9 near Tewkesbury and re-route the section of the A46 which currently 
passes through Ashchurch to the east of the M5 (between M5 junction 9 and Teddington 
Hands roundabout).  

Options are currently being considered for a new dual carriageway between the M5 near 
Tewkesbury and Teddington Hands roundabout and associated works to M5 junction 9, 
thereby removing significant volumes of traffic from the A46 through Ashchurch and 
enabling this existing section to better cater for local traffic movements between 
Tewkesbury and Ashchurch.

Gloucestershire County Council has applied to the Department for Transport’s Large Local 
Majors Fund (LLM) funding and received approval of the first stage of the scheme 
development in March 2020, with an approved Pre-Strategic Outline Business Case. Work 
continues on the scheme and it is expected that a public consultation event will be held 
in 2022.  

More information can be found here:  
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/major-projects-list/m5-junction-9-and-
a46-ashchurch-transport-scheme/

7.4. A417 Missing Link

The A417/A419 provides an important route between Gloucester, Cheltenham and 
Swindon that helps connect the West Midlands and the north to the south of England via 
the M5 and M4 motorways. While most of the A417 route is dual carriageway, there is 
one section that isn’t. Known as the Missing Link, this three-mile stretch of single 
carriageway between the Brockworth bypass and Cowley roundabout severely restricts 
the flow of traffic.

Page 21

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fwww.gloucestershire.gov.uk%2fhighways%2fmajor-projects-list%2fm5-junction-10-improvements-scheme%2f&c=E,1,lFiNspeizob9qBu7xIiqk2SYDIVQEK64CmpXDc7pH20G-kc6gAFHKW6AMc6iyXacwr2NhUZYCzjQ__hOvql49LFvexhJNEravWvF0vUmhK-E8g,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fwww.gloucestershire.gov.uk%2fhighways%2fmajor-projects-list%2fm5-junction-9-and-a46-ashchurch-transport-scheme%2f&c=E,1,Nuz1Sv8ZaW33F2GpJlnZW9ej8UE2Rj5q7nM79sbi1AwwpS6wKc1Kug7sZ_ZkEP8PjUiJfKjnZfzdMGC598MgOkIwTL3tVi6Sd-BGmufMyXVF&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fwww.gloucestershire.gov.uk%2fhighways%2fmajor-projects-list%2fm5-junction-9-and-a46-ashchurch-transport-scheme%2f&c=E,1,Nuz1Sv8ZaW33F2GpJlnZW9ej8UE2Rj5q7nM79sbi1AwwpS6wKc1Kug7sZ_ZkEP8PjUiJfKjnZfzdMGC598MgOkIwTL3tVi6Sd-BGmufMyXVF&typo=1


National Highways (formerly Highways England) plan to build 3.4 miles (5.5km) of new 
dual carriageway, which will considerably improve road safety, reduce traffic congestion 
and improve connectivity for road users and local communities, while unlocking 
economic growth in Gloucestershire and beyond. National Highways has submitted the 
planning application for the scheme to the Planning Inspectorate, and the Examination in 
Public is likely to commence in November.  If the planning application is approved work 
could start on the construction of the scheme early in 2023. 

More information can be found here: https://highwaysengland.co.uk/our-work/south-
west/a417-missing-link/

7.5. Northwest Cheltenham Strategic Allocation

A planning application for Northwest Cheltenham has been submitted jointly to 
Tewkesbury and Cheltenham Borough Councils. The councils are working closely with the 
developers and infrastructure providers to progress the application to ensure the timely 
delivery of development. Transport infrastructure is a key component of these 
discussions and how the traffic impact of the site is managed and the development of this 
site, as with Northwest Cheltenham, is linked to future improvement of M5 J10.

7.6. Golden Valley Development

Known as the Golden Valley Development, the West Cheltenham strategic allocation site 
was identified in the JCS to deliver 1,100 homes and 45ha of employment land. 
Cheltenham Borough and Tewkesbury Borough Councils adopted the Golden Valley 
Development Supplementary Planning Document in July 2020 to help to promote and 
steer the future development of the strategic allocation. 

The GFirst LEP, Cheltenham Borough Council, Gloucestershire County Council and 
Cheltenham Development Taskforce have been working on the development of a ‘cyber 
hub’ as part of the West Cheltenham strategic allocation. Through this work a successful 
bid was made for £22m funding to help deliver the development of the cyber hub, and a 
preferred development partner was announced in July 2021. 

Transport infrastructure is again a key component of these discussions and how the 
traffic impact of the site is managed. The development of this site, as with North West 
Cheltenham, is linked to future improvement of M5 J10.

7.7. Tewkesbury Garden Town

Tewkesbury Borough Council was awarded Garden Town status in 2019 based upon a 
potential development of 10,195 homes and approximately 100 hectares of employment 
land. The Garden Town will be supported by infrastructure including roads, schools, and 
green space to meet the community needs through excellent ‘place making’. 

Work continues on the evolution of the Concept Plan which was noted by Tewkesbury 
Borough Executive Committee in October. This document has no planning status 
currently, but the Garden Town is intended to be formally consulted on though the JCS 
Review process.

Page 22

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fhighwaysengland.co.uk%2four-work%2fsouth-west%2fa417-missing-link%2f&c=E,1,6-uoBt8BMakattqm1-CMcEBOqus2Vebyi-Lwt4J3zpZZJ9iL7GFj2DRfNYPQBwqd_zGr5xIoN9A5pidl09sVdr0IpQReeiWnMqFAbonzFabvr_R6g_Vv-lc,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fhighwaysengland.co.uk%2four-work%2fsouth-west%2fa417-missing-link%2f&c=E,1,6-uoBt8BMakattqm1-CMcEBOqus2Vebyi-Lwt4J3zpZZJ9iL7GFj2DRfNYPQBwqd_zGr5xIoN9A5pidl09sVdr0IpQReeiWnMqFAbonzFabvr_R6g_Vv-lc,&typo=1


As part of the master planning process, nine founding development principles have been 
created, drawing on inspiration from the long-established Garden City Movement and UK 
Garden Communities Model of Development, the adopted Joint Core Strategy for 
Cheltenham, Gloucester and Tewkesbury (JCS) and stakeholder engagement events held 
throughout 2019. These principles will act as an important blueprint for all decision 
making as the Tewkesbury Garden Town evolves.

MHCLG (now DLUHC) has awarded the Borough Council funding through its New 
Development Corporation Competition - to progress the exploration of an appropriate 
delivery vehicle to oversee the completion of this major development. This workstream is 
in progress and the Tewkesbury Garden Town team are currently procuring this work.

To support planned development appropriately, early infrastructure delivery is underway, 
including a new bridge over the railway line at Northway based upon the award of £8.1 
million from the Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF). The planning application has been 
approved and the next phase underway includes detailed design and the selection of a 
construction partner, in due course.

7.8. Strategic Site south of Chesterton, Cirencester

Land to the south of Chesterton, Cirencester was granted outline planning permission in 
April 2019 for, amongst other things, up to 2,350 dwellings (including up to 100 units of 
student accommodation and 60 homes for the elderly), along with 9.1 hectares of 
employment land (B1, B2 and B8 uses).  It is currently anticipated that around 1,550 
dwellings will be completed during the plan period with the remainder coming forward 
after 2031. Reserved matters was granted for this application  in October 2021.

7.9. Cinderford Northern Quarter

This is a mixed use regeneration scheme and includes housing and employment 
allocations.  A new FE college has been completed served by a new road which will 
enable further mixed development.  Previously, as part of the Cinderford Regeneration 
Project, Forest of Dean District Council, Two Rivers Housing and Kier Partnership Homes 
Limited worked together on the redevelopment of the Valley Road site. The scheme was 
for a total of 92 houses, of which 55 were open market homes and 37 were affordable 
homes.  The project had a total cost of approximately £20m with not-for-profit Two 
Rivers investing £3m into the project, for the provision of the 37 affordable units.

7.10. Lydney Harbour Regeneration

A comprehensive scheme to safeguard and protect the docks and harbour and realise 
their full potential whilst supporting a major private sector investment for which a 
planning application is due shortly. It is centred on a former factory and will provide jobs 
and a recreational/ tourism opportunity.

7.11. West of Stonehouse Strategic Allocation

Outline planning permission for 1,350 dwellings, local centre and 10 hectares of 
employment land was granted in April 2016. Reserved matters were approved in May 
2017 for infrastructure to serve Phase 1. Developers were on site in September 2017. 
Redrow and Barratt Homes/David Wilson Homes are delivering the first housing phases. 

Page 23



Parcel H21 is under construction with 82 completed as at April 2021. Parcels H16 and H19 
reserved matters have been approved. The delivery of employment parcels is linked to 
progress with initial housing phases to ensure balanced growth of homes and jobs. The 
implementation of phases is being managed via area masterplans.

7.12. Hunts Grove Extension/Quedgeley East Strategic Allocations

A renegotiated outline permission for Hunts Grove was granted in July 2016 for 1,750 
dwellings, a school and local centre. 339 dwellings have been completed just in the 
monitoring year 2020/21 on a variety of land parcels. Crest Nicholson will oversee 
delivery as the main developer with partner developers building out sub areas within the 
masterplan. An outline permission for 25 hectares of employment land at Quedgeley East 
was granted in November 2018 subject to delivering M5 J12 improvements and is now 
under construction. Highway capacity issues remain at M5 J12 in the adopted and 
emerging Local Plans and the accompanying evidence base.

8. Gloucestershire Statement of Common Ground

8.1. Since the previous report, work on the Gloucestershire Statement of Common Ground 
has been on-going including consultation with Leaders of all Councils with the aim of 
securing sign off on the agreement. Whilst work has progressed well with many areas 
agreed, there are some areas where agreement from all Councils has not been possible. 
 Work is now underway to set these areas out and these will be included within an 
appendix to the Statement of Common Ground, as areas not agreed upon. 

9. National Planning Matters Update

9.1. In September, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government was changed 
to the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, with the Government’s 
central aim of levelling up every part of the Country and building back better after the 
pandemic. 
 

9.2. Further developments on the Planning White Paper are yet to materialise. However, it is 
expected that much of what was set out in that Paper will be ‘watered down’ or 
disbanded altogether.

9.3. On July 21st the government launched a new Office for Place with the aim to support 
councils and communities to develop user friendly, effective design codes. The 
government “aims to shift an industry culture to a point where mediocrity is no longer 
proposed or accepted.”1 At the moment the Office for Place will focus on pilot projects. 
The launch of the Office for Place came alongside changes to the NPPF and the 
publication of a new National Model Design Code with the intention to make ‘beauty’ 
central to the planning system. 

9.4. Changes to the NPPF have been made to incorporate the National Model Design Code 
and some of its themes into the planning system. For example, there is now a 
requirement for all new streets to be tree lined2 (“unless, in specific cases, there are clear, 

1 The Rt Hon Robert Jenrick MP https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/office-for-place-launch  
2 Para 131, NPPF, July 2021

Page 24

https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/office-for-place-launch


justifiable and compelling reasons why this would be inappropriate”), and the social 
objective of the planning system has been expanded to include the word “beautiful”3. 

9.5. The NPPF sets out that to carry weight in decision-making design codes should be 
prepared either as part of plan making or as supplementary planning document. 
Landowners and developers can contribute and may choose to prepare a code to support 
their application. Regardless of whoever prepares them, they need to be based on 
effective community engagement and reflect local aspirations. Where there is no local 
code the National Design Guide and the National Model Design Code will be used. 4

9.6. The changes to the NPPF also seek to improve design quality by allowing LPAs to refuse 
development that is not well designed, “especially where it fails to reflect local design 
policies and government guidance on design, taking into account any local design 
guidance and supplementary planning documents such as design guides and codes.”5 

9.7. Conversely developments that reflect local design policies, guides and codes, and the 
government guidance on design are to be given significant weight.6 

9.8. A new paragraph 128 states that in order to "provide maximum clarity about design 
expectations at an early stage", all local planning authorities "should prepare design 
guides or codes consistent with the principles set out in the National Design Guide and 
National Model Design Code, and which reflect local character and design preferences". 

9.9. Other changes to improve design include requiring LPAs to seek to ensure that quality is 
not diminished between planning permission and completion7.  This relates to materials, 
or the more interesting elements of the architectural appearance, that can sometimes be 
diluted post permission through amendments or the discharging of conditions.  

9.10. In terms of strategic sites, policies for large scale developments such as new settlements 
or significant extensions to existing villages and towns now need to be set within a 30-
year vision. This only applies to plans that have not reached Regulation 19 (pre-
submission) stage on 20th July 2021. 

9.11. The previous NPPF’s presumption in favour of sustainable development has been 
expanded to provide more emphasis on upfront delivery of infrastructure and has placed 
more importance on adapting to and mitigating the effects of climate change:  "all plans 
should promote a sustainable pattern of development that seeks to: meet the 
development needs of their area; align growth and infrastructure; improve the 
environment; mitigate climate change (including by making effective use of land in urban 
areas) and adapt to its effects”. 

9.12. Another change seeks to bring clarity to how councils use Article 4 directions to remove 
national permitted development rights. The intention is to stop councils using an Article 4 
to prevent the conversion of non-residential uses into residential uses in a blanket 
fashion. Article 4s can still be used for this purpose if they are preventing “wholly 

3 Para 8b, NPPF, July 2021
4 Para 129, NPPF, July 2021
5 Para 134, NPPF, July 2021
6 Para 134, NPPF, July 2021
7 Para 135, NPPF, July 2021

Page 25



unacceptable adverse impacts” and are “based on robust evidence and apply to the 
smallest geographical area possible.”8 The NPPF sets out that this could apply to a 
primary shopping area but would be very unlikely to apply to a whole town centre. 

9.13. With regard to historic statues the NPPF provides that Councils should 'retain and explain' 
statues rather than remove them. New paragraph 198 states: “In considering any 
applications to remove or alter a historic statue, plaque, memorial or monument 
(whether listed or not), local planning authorities should have regard to the importance 
of their retention in situ and, where appropriate, of explaining their historic and social 
context rather than removal." 

9.14. There is more emphasis ensuring infrastructure needs are aligned with growth. A new 
paragraph states: "To ensure faster delivery of other public service infrastructure such as 
further education colleges, hospitals and criminal justice accommodation, local planning 
authorities should also work proactively and positively with promoters, delivery partners 
and statutory bodies to plan for required facilities and resolve key planning issues before 
applications are submitted."9 

9.15. The reference to Building for Life has been removed and replaced with an updated design 
toolkit called Building for a Healthy Life10 which is endorsed by Homes England, the Home 
Builders Federations, and the Urban Design Group. 

9.16. There is a new emphasis on protecting not only the AONB but also its setting, stating that 
‘development within their setting should be sensitively located and designed to avoid or 
minimize adverse impacts on the designated areas’. Further, there is a presumption 
against major development in such areas.

9.17. Obviously, all these changes will need to be taken account of in the review of Local Plans, 
and any further changes as a result of the planning reforms will also need to be 
considered. However, planning reforms are currently on hold as the new department of 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities is focusing its agenda on ‘levelling up’. So, it 
remains to be seen as to when any changes will be put forward and how this will affect 
the development of Gloucestershire’s local plans. 

8 Para 53, NPPF, July 2021
9 Para 96, NPP,F July 2021
10 Building for a Healthy Life 
https://www.udg.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/files/14JULY20%20BFL%202020%20Brochure_3.pdf 

Page 26

https://www.udg.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/files/14JULY20%20BFL%202020%20Brochure_3.pdf


GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

WORK PLAN 2022

19 January 2022 31 March 2022 31 May 2022

Gloucestershire Infrastructure 
Investment Fund

Strategic Planning in Gloucestershire

21 July 2022 22 September 2022 29 November 2022

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 5



POSSIBLE FUTURE ITEMS

1 Statement of Common Ground / City Region 
Board

Not timely for 
now

6 The impacts of Covid on the Tourism and 
Hospitality sector

2 Impact of potential future lockdowns or 
pandemics on the economy (WFH impacts)

7 Youth unemployment Delayed from 
January

3 Modern Methods of Construction – Developers 8 Economic impacts of climate change – to 
include green jobs

Delayed from 
January

4 Food and Farming Strategy 9 Public transport – to include the impact of 
driver shortages 

Potential joint 
meeting with 
Environment

5 Independent Retail SectorP
age 28



Director’s Report, Economy, Environment & Infrastructure
Scrutiny Committee Report

January 2022

This report summarises key areas likely to lead to decisions over the next 6 months, including 
updates on areas previously reported.  

1.0 Decisions

1.1      Relevant forthcoming decisions, by date due:
 Gloucester South West Bypass (GSWB) Llanthony Road Improvements – Contract 

Procurement Between 17 Dec 2021 and 7 Jan 2022 by Cabinet Member - Highways and 
Flood

 M5 Junction 10 Improvements Scheme – Delegating Authority Between 30 Dec 2021 and 10 
Feb 2022 by Cabinet Member - Environment and Planning

 The procurement of highway services and construction phase works in connection with the 
delivery of Tintern Bridge Refurbishment Scheme Between 11 Jan 2022 and 8 Feb 2022 by 
Cabinet Member - Highways and Flood

 Gloucestershire Statement of Common Ground - Strategic Planning 30 Mar 2022 by Cabinet

1.2 Pending Items not yet published on the Forward Plan:
 Bus Back Better - The Enhanced Partnership 
 Agency Staff Contract (Highways)

2.0 Highways 

2.1 Highways Contracts
 Term maintenance (Ringway) – Third year of contract underway.  Performance on cyclical 

maintenance and defect repair remains on target.  Defect numbers for November were around 
3500.  Parts of the network which have not yet been addressed with long term solutions such as 
resurfacing remain fragile. Winter maintenance operations have now begun with a higher than 
average number of runs being carried out in November, fewer in December so far. Further 
commercial discussions underway to address retention/recruitment challenges in construction 
sector.

 Professional services (Atkins) – Third year of contract underway.  
 Structural maintenance (Tarmac) – Last year of current contract.  Continued good performance 

and final year of £150m investment commenced.  Tender documents issued in November 2021 
with a view to awarding new contract early in 2022 for mobilisation from April 2022.

 Street lighting (M Group) –Performance on key indicators remains satisfactory.  
 Highway Skills Academy – Current focus is on the formation of a development/career path for 

those staff which are progressing through their apprenticeships in order that GCC retains the 
investment in time, funds and skills.  Our first cohort of Level 4 (HNC equivalent) 
Apprenticeships of 12 staff have started with a second cohort planned to follow next year with 
the large level of interest from existing staff.  Highways have also welcomed some participants 
from the Kickstart programme into the teams.

 Awards – A38 Canal Bridges won two awards at the ICE SW Awards in both the ‘People’s 
Choice Award’ and ‘Project Under £8m New Build Award’.

Page 29

Agenda Item 7

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42984&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42984&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42952&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=43421&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=43421&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=40377&Opt=0


2.2 Highways Delivery
 Depots/property – development of strategic plan for highways depots included in 21/22 Service 

Plan in order to ensure facilities are fit for purpose.
 Ash die back – continued programme in 21/22 including planting programme to ensure that two 

trees are planted for each one felled with ash die back disease.  Discussions are underway with 
external organisations such as National Trust and others to identify larger woodland planting 
schemes off the public highway.  Programme for 22/23 being planned.

2.3 Major Projects

M5 J10
 Non-statutory public consultation results now published.  Preferred Route Announcement took 

place on 16th June 2021 along with associated communications and publication via GCC 
website.

 Land agents progressing land acquisition/negotiations in partnership with GCC Property.
 Successful bid for £35k Capacity Funding from Homes England to support local planning 

authorities in both their statutory and non-statutory functions in respect of the Development 
Consent Order process.

 Claims to date total just over £15m.
 Next steps will be around ongoing land acquisition negotiations and moving into the Statutory 

Public Consultation running from 8th December 2021 to February 2022.  Member briefings and 
first two consultation events have been held.  Further events to follow in 2022.

A435 Junction Improvements
 Works have been tendered and contract awarded to deliver capacity improvements associated 

with local housing developments with works due to start in early 2022.  Project will also provide 
some enabling works for future cycle route between Cheltenham and Bishops Cleeve.

A435 Cheltenham to Bishops Cleeve Cycleway
 Preliminary design work is now progressing of the cycle route following an initial concept design. 

A419 Junction Improvements (Stonehouse)
 Works substantially complete with Downton Road junction cycle improvements completed in 

November 2021 and further cycleway alterations planned at Horsetrough Roundabout in 
early/mid 2022. 

Ashchurch Bridge over Rail (Delivery for Tewkesbury Borough Council)
 Planning permission for the bridge has been granted. Detailed design continues (Atkins).
 Legal agreement is underway.  Ground investigation completed.
 Project delivery through Design and Build contract likely.
 Works continue with Tewkesbury Borough Council and Network Rail to understand the 

complexities of the legal agreements required for the construction phase.
 Construction works estimated for 22/23-23/24.

GSWB / Llanthony Road
 Planning permission granted April 2019;
 All premises are now owned by GCC.  Work is underway to complete all utility disconnections.
 Planning application for change of use (part of City Business Centre to become car park for 

displaced parking) has now been approved

Page 30



 Scheme includes segregated footway and cycleway facilities that are compliant with latest 
government design guidance from the DfT.

 Preferred contractor in place for City Business Centre demolition contract, with surveys 
underway and demolition scheduled to start early in 2022

 Levelling Up Fund bid successful at £12.822m allowing the main highway works to start in 
Spring 2022

West Cheltenham Transport Infrastructure Scheme / Cyber
 Work started on site for Phases 1 and 2 in June 2020 and has been substantially completed 

with traffic management now fully removed and new traffic signals expected to be 
commissioned imminently.  The Phase 3 and 4 Design and Build contract started in January 
2021 and is on programme to be completed in Spring 2022.

 National Highways’ safety critical works at Staverton Bridge and M5 Junction 11 are underway 
with Arle Court forming part of the M5J11 diversion route – with Phase 1 and 2 works virtually 
complete this is no longer causing a major impact.

Gloucester Station Access Works (Delivery with Gloucester City Council)
 New access/egress at Metz Way nearing completion, subject to Great Western Rail sign off 

process.  Revised Bruton Way access works including additional drainage works will commence 
when Metz Way access/egress is opened, anticipated completion February/March 2022.

Structures/Geotechnical Schemes
 Blakeney West – Detailed design complete and contract out to tender.  Market engagement 

event scheduled at end October.  Contract award anticipated in December with mobilisation in 
January 2022 with construction works planned for February 2022.

 Rushmire Hill – investigation works ongoing to determine slip and failure mechanism to inform 
design.

 Badgeworth Road – design works underway during 2021/22
 Tintern Bridge – design works underway and accelerated construction programme being 

prepared.  Ongoing co-ordination with Monmouthshire CC who jointly have responsibility for the 
bridge. 

 Walk Bridge – tendering Design and Build contract for Stroud District Council.  Preliminary early 
contractor involvement to investigate possible construction options prior to tender process.

3.0 Community & Infrastructure 

3.1 Definitive Map Modification Order (DMMO) Update:

Performance up to 20 Dec ’21

The DMMO team faces significant demand pressure in anticipation of a 2026 cut-off date being 
enacted in law. 

Total number of ‘unresolved’ applications:  180 (up from 171)
No. of new ‘min.14(1) compliant’ applications received in 2021 up to 20th Dec: 20 (up from 13)
Number of applications ‘resolved’ in 2021: 10 (up from 9)

Currently resolving, on average over the past 5 years, 8 applications a year.

Page 31



Number of all ‘undetermined’ applications, as at 20 Dec 21: 
Undetermined Undet-Archived Undet-Non14(2)

No. 29 52 63
(“Archived” applications are whereby the intended effect of the application is essentially nulled by a 
subsequent change in legislation (for example, the NERC Act); “Non14(2)” applications have not been ‘fully 
made’ but are still valid applications in terms of needing determination.) 

Number of all unresolved ‘determined’ applications, as at 20 Dec 21: 
Apps with unresolved objectionsApps at publication/ 

confirmation stage Submitted to SoS Awaiting submission 
No. 2 2 32

Recent CROWC determinations:
Last CROW Committee 1 App on 5 Oct - decision to make Order for additional FP

1 App on 2 Dec - decision to make Order for additional FP
Next CROW Committee In March 2022

3.2 DfT Active Travel Fund 
 Tranche 2: (B4063 Chelt-Glos cycle route): Construction started in October on part of the route 

between Pheasant Lane and the M5 bridge. A lower speed limit is in place to allow for safe 
working and the new design reallocates road space to create a safer route for cyclists to ride 
away from the traffic.

 Construction works were completed in December on extensions to the continuous cycle lanes 
on London Road, from its junction with Claremont Road to its junction with Great Western Road. 
This included the provision of alternative loading bays in Claremont Road and Oxford Street and 
the resurfacing of footways.  

3.3 ITU Public Transport and School Transport
 ITU has recruited interim officer support to assist with developing the Enhanced Partnership 

agreement.
 Following the award of £1.3m Rural Mobility Fund grant last year orders have been placed for 

four accessible vehicles to operate demand responsive bus services in the Forest of Dean and 
north Cotswolds. These will be owned by the council and bus operators have been invited to 
tender to operate the new services in the early spring. 

 ITU officers are in regular contact with Stagecoach regarding managing the impact of driver 
shortages on bus services. This is not within the council’s direct control however Stagecoach 
have a full programme for training new drivers and are seeking to limit the impact especially on 
infrequent services.

3.4 Network Management (Road Safety and Parking)
 A separate report provides members with an update on progress with the actions arising from 

the Motion calling for the widespread introduction of 20mph maximum speed limits, which was 
considered by the committee on the 9th September 2021.

 A parallel workstream is underway reviewing the council’s road safety policies and targets. This 
included a stakeholder workshop in December with representation from local groups, parishes 
and external speakers. As part of our consultation process we will bring draft proposals back to 
this committee in May.

 The Tender for Electric Vehicle Charge Points has now been evaluated and a contract award 
decision will be made this month. This is a key milestone in enabling the council to invest in 
1000 EVCP’s over the next four years. 

3.5 e-Scooter trial  
 The council is extending the local trial in Cheltenham and Gloucester to align with and support 

government plans to extend national trials to November 2022. By then permanent legislation is 

Page 32



expected to be in place for the use of e-scooters on the public highway. The agenda for the 
January committee includes a presentation by Zwings, the operator of the Gloucestershire 
scheme, followed by the opportunity to ask questions.

3.6 Sustainability
 We have now secured £1m (60% grant funded) to deliver the council’s tree strategy and target 

of 1million trees by 2030. In December we appointed to the new tree officer post which will 
manage this ambitious project. This person will be responsible for engaging land owners, 
developing bids for further tree planting schemes and working with our partner organisations. 
Our call out to the public for ‘land for trees’ has so far generated interest in planting over 
100,000 trees. 

 Officers are finalising arrangements for Climate Literacy Training for over 80 staff and members 
in February/March. This will initially be for some elected members, senior leaders and 
managers. We will then review feedback on the effectiveness of the training before making a 
decision on how best to cascade this more widely through the organisation. This is key to 
ensuring that climate change is considered in all the council’s decisions. 

4.0 Strategic Infrastructure

4.1 B4063 / A40 Highways England Cycling Scheme – Cheltenham to Gloucester
 The original HE scheme, in order to fulfil funding criteria, needed to be completed by March 

2020. This, however, was subsequently extended to construction starting in 2021, as part of the 
RIS2 process. GCC officers continue to engage with HE’s Route Manager to attempt to ensure 
everything is ‘joined up’. 

 GCC has decided to take over the detailed design of this project, with the design fully underway 
with the East part of the route designed and consulted upon in Spring 2021, an independent 
audit has now been completed by a leading industry expert to ensure we provide the best 
possible facility we can within the constraints.  The audit findings have led to extensive 
enhancement of the provision, which have been heavily endorsed by Sustrans to the extent that 
they are due to become a major funding provider for the scheme.  The revised proposals for the 
East part of the route between the M5 overbridge and Arle Court have now been published on 
the County Council’s website reflecting the feedback received to date.

 Works started in October 2021, delivering the east part of the route first between the M5 and 
Pheasant Lane which is expected to be completed in Spring 2022 and will be directly followed 
by subsequent phases.

 This scheme will have the key advantage of directly linking the project to the emerging £22M 
West Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme (WCTIS) providing a continuous link 
between Gloucester and Cheltenham rail station once complete and include the recently 
successfully delivered Emergency Active Travel Scheme on London Road in Gloucester. The 
GFirst LEP Board, in December 2020, agreed that any future underspend on the £22M WCTIS 
would be ringfenced to the B4063 cycle scheme. Prior to this, in November 2020, £864k was 
secured from an EATF Tranche 2 bid from the Department for Transport (DfT), which will part 
fund a section of the works. 

 The County Council has recently successfully secured DfT Levelling Up funding to extend the 
route through Gloucester City Centre and Gloucester Docks providing linkage to the Gloucester 
Canal Towpath

4.2 M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch)
 The Strategic Outline Business Case for the M5 J9 / A46 scheme was submitted to the DfT in 

January 2020;
 Positive Government announcement in March 2020, stating that the scheme should progress to 

the next stage;

Page 33



 This is to progress to the Outline Business Case – the cost of which is likely to be £2M-£3M – 
part of the funding came from the approved £4M GCC funding for ‘business case development’ 
in 2020/21;

 The progression of the scheme was considered and approved by GCC Cabinet on 24th March 
2021; 

 Discussions re- possible future funding ongoing with both Homes England and Tewkesbury BC 
due to the links to the emerging ‘garden town’;

 Ongoing discussions with HE to secure approval of options for Junction 9;
 Detailed HE feedback has been received and is currently being analysed by officers and Atkins. 
 Baroness Vere has confirmed support for the project in November 2021.
 Non statutory public consultation anticipated in September 2022.

4.3 Digital connectivity
 Cabinet considered and approved the latest, revised Fastershire Broadband Strategy 2019-

2022 in December 2019;
 This is now being implemented, with a view to securing solutions for ‘the final 3%’.
 Complete Utilities (CU) announced on the 31st October 2021 that it was ceasing trading with 

immediate effect.   Gigaclear was informed immediately of this decision. There was no prior 
warning or indication of this act.  CU are not the sole contractor for Gigaclear and other 
suppliers, as well as Gigaclear’s own direct labour team, have had works re-assigned to them. 
GCC released a media statement regarding the news and stated it would do all it could to offer 
support to staff. GCC have alerted other GCC colleagues who deliver employment and skills 
programmes, and LEP/JCP who provide a co-ordinated redundancy support programme, who 
will be ready to respond to help individuals impacted by CU ceasing to trade. 

4.4 A417 Missing Link
 Preferred Route Announcement (Route 30) made March 2019;
 Further public consultation took place in Autumn 2019;
 A supportive officer-level response to this consultation (a joint response from CDC, TBC and 

GCC) was sent on 8th November 2019;
 Positive announcement in March 2020 stating that the scheme has secured funding and should 

progress to DCO;
 Revised proposals were subject to a further public consultation, which started on 12th October 

2020. A detailed GCC officer response was sent, meeting the external deadline of 12th 
November 2020;

 The DCO planning application has now been submitted in June 2021 and is currently being 
considered by the Planning Inspectorate;

 An Individual Cabinet Member decision is proposed in December 2021 to seek authorisation to 
formally delegate to officers authority to represent the Council through the DCO process.

4.5 Local Transport Plan (LTP)
 The LTP was adopted at Full Council on 17th March 2021.

4.6 Chepstow Transport Improvements
 Consultant’s report outlined scheme options;
 Monmouthshire CC keen to progress to Full Business Cases;
 GCC Lead Cabinet Members supported a GCC financial contribution of £20K (2020/21) towards 

Stage 2 of the Chepstow Transport Study;
 A possible further GCC financial contribution for 2021/22 is currently being considered.

Page 34



4.7 Cinderford 
 FoDDC yet to secure planning permission and funding for proposed extension of phase one of 

the road;
 A Section 73 amendment to vary the existing planning permission was submitted in April 2021 

and is awaiting determination by FoDDC;
 FoDDC held a Cinderford Northern Quarter Scrutiny Inquiry in November 2021, with GCC 

senior officer input;
 Until planning and funding for the road is in place, no further action for GCC. 

4.8 Local Plans / JCS / CIL
 Review of JCS now underway following an ‘Issues and Options’ consultation which ended in 

January 2019;
 The JCS Reg.18 public consultation has now been delayed to Autumn 2022;
 Progress has been made with the JCS authorities to review the JCS CIL – consultants are now 

undertaking this task in liaison with GCC officers;
 GCC education and library contributions continue to be challenged and declined by some 

District Councils and developers – these are in the process of being reviewed by GCC;
 GCC continues to not receive a penny of CIL from any of the JCS authorities;
 Stroud Local Plan – Consultation on Draft Local Plan – closed 22nd January 2020. Significant 

officer-level concerns submitted to SDC – especially transport issues re- the significant 
proposed development at Sharpness. Another SDC consultation took place with additional 
possible housing sites, which was responded to in December 2020. The most recent public 
consultation stage (pre-submission draft consultation) ended on 21st July 2021. GCC officer 
comments were submitted prior to the deadline. The Plan has now been submitted to the 
Planning Inspectorate for consideration. 

 Cotswold Local Plan – Adopted in August 2018;
 Forest of Dean Local Plan – Issues and Options consultation ended on 31st October 2019. 

FoDDC consulted on a ‘preferred option’ – the closing date for comments was 29th January 
2021. GCC officers commented before this deadline. 

5.0 Libraries & Registration

5.1 Libraries
 As part of the ongoing commitment to supporting businesses, Gloucestershire library service 

has launched their new intellectual property information service on 22nd November.  This is a 
new service aimed at helping to safeguard the rights of businesses, inventors and 
entrepreneurs.  Staff will provide free advice on a wide range of aspects of intellectual property, 
such as trademarks, patents, designs and copyright, along with information on how to identify 
and protect it.

5.2 Registration 
 No new update.

6.0 Waste Management 

 Authorisation was granted by Cabinet in December 21 to retender the contract for the sale of 
electricity generated by the Gloucestershire Energy from Waste facility at Javelin Park. The 
report also authorised the retendering of the council’s energy purchase contracts (via a Central 

Page 35



Purchasing Body). A procurement exercise will commence in January 22, with the aim of having 
new contracts in place by September 22 to allow the forward trading of energy. All energy sales 
from the Gloucestershire EfW have been fixed until Oct 23 (the end of the existing contract term 
with our current off-taker, EDF).

 The Fosse Cross HRC reopened in December following a temporary closure through November 
for essential repairs. Pyke Quarry opened seven days a week during the closure period to 
provide some additional capacity. Next day booking was maintained across the HRC network 
throughout. Whilst work at Fosse Cross is substantially complete, there has been a continued 
delay to the delivery of an interceptor tank meaning that the lower level of the site remains 
closed to the public. This means that some materials (soil, rubble and asbestos) cannot be 
accepted at this site at present. Suitable communications messages have been issued.

 Bids have been received for the materials off-take contracts for the various waste streams 
collected for reuse, recycling and recovery at the HRCs. These are currently being evaluated. 
There are currently 28 different contracts in place, which are to be retendered and awarded 
ahead of contract commencement on 1st April 2022. 

 The Visitor and Education Centre at the Gloucestershire Energy from Waste Facility has 
temporarily closed due to increasing rates of Covid-19 infections. Any non-essential visits to the 
site have been postponed to reduce the risk of infection for site staff.

 A “Greener Christmas” communications campaign was run through December in partnership 
with district councils. The campaign provided information and advice on how residents could 
reduce, reuse and recycle more over the festive period; a time of year which typically results in 
more household waste being generated. The next communications campaign to be delivered by 
the Gloucestershire Resources and Waste Partnership will be in the spring and will focus on 
reuse and repair. 

7.0 Employment and Skills 

7.1 Adult Education Service
 Online learning remains in place for some of the skills provision, feedback from learners was 

taken into account when planning the new academic year.  ESOL learning is predominately 
taking place face to face in the centre and other community settings due to the learners 
expressing the need to mix with other learners and to learn face to face.   Functional skills is 
taking place mainly online as we found this allows for more flexible course delivery, learners are 
able to complete courses in the evenings to fit around their work patterns.  Some functional 
skills courses are running face to face as not all learners like online learning and it is better to 
have face to face classes for them.  All apprenticeship provisions are now back to face to face 
with employers now happy for us to go to their premises to carry out assessments and support 
sessions.

 Most of the community learning is now back to be being delivered face to face as many of these 
learners struggle with technology or live in rural areas that do not have good internet 
connections.  Most of the venues we were using pre-Covid are now open and back to normal 
capacity, this makes our community learning delivery easier.

 Exams officer job vacancy is now live – exams are due to take place this year instead of             
the TAG’s that have taken place the past 2 years.

 Learning Co-ordinator and administrator posts are also now advertised with a view to having 
these posts filled and started by January.

Page 36



 The Final ESFA end of year for 2020/2021 was submitted on 5th November – our final 
submission was 96.5% which was over the required 90% ESFA spend and means we are not 
required to repay any of our allocation.  

 Monthly budget review meetings continue to take place with Hos/Finance and Budget Managers 
to ensure that forecasting is more accurate and cost savings are looked at regularly.  We have 
made some good cost savings and are in a good financial state as a service now.

7.2 Skills and Employment Hub
 The purpose of the Skills and Employment Hub is to support: - workers who are coming off 

furlough and facing redundancy; school/college leavers; apprenticeship candidates across the 
county from one central Skills and Employment Hub. The S&E Hub brings together GCC and 
GFirst LEP support whilst working with key stakeholders across the county to strengthen the 
offer to anyone in need of skills and employment support.

 The team moved into a central hub location in the Adult Education building on Commercial 
Road on 1st September 2021. 

- REPORT END - 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Gloucestershire Infrastructure Investment Fund Programme (GIIF)
	Gloucestershire Infrastructure Investment Fund

	4 STRATEGIC PLANNING IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE
	5 Work Plan
	7 Executive Director's Report

